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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Dome Building's richly decorated exterior is an imposing example of Italian
Renaissance Revival architecture. This six-story office building (plus basement and
cupola) gives an overall sense of verticality through two techniques: vertical lines
that lead the eye upward, and floors that become progressively more decorative as
they near the top. All of this leads the eye to the roof with its domed cupola--the
most distinctive fegature of the building, and hence the name.

The building is oblong in shape with its two rear sides consisting of solid brick walls
painted sienna brown with no decorative features and windows on one rear side. To
compensate, the remaining two walls and external projecting six-story circular bay are
highly decorated.

The west side ground floor has five large, full-length windows divided by stone piers
supporting a plain, stone entablature above which is the brick portion of the building.
At this ground level there are two entrancés--one on the west side and one in the south-
west corner bay. The west side entrance, intended to be the main entrance, is recessed
and has pilasters of the Tuscan order resting on plain bases inside this recessed area.
The unadorned lines of this order are repeated in the entablature above the entrance.
The vertical impression is enhanced by this doorway and its portico which is two stories
and has a fan window between the second story antae. This window has a keystone arch,
and both spandrel areas have identical foliated decorative motifs.

The west side second level has short brick pilasters separating paired windows with
each set of windows separated by a wider brick pilaster. Each of these has a simply
decorated’ capital.

The next three.stories are built to present a visual unity. These stories are directly
above an entablature composed of a plain architrave, a decorative circular stone

patterned frieze and a denticulated cornice. The lower two stories- are virtually identi- i
cal: paired windows with each pair separated by a two-story pilaster with horizontal
brick detailing. The pilasters are topped with decorative brick work, and each has three
circular stone beads. Each set of windows has a denticulated sill.

The third floor of this unit (and fifth floor of the building) is composed of five
fan-shaped windows whose arches, which are composed of radiating brick voussoirs,
spring from the pilasters of the two lower floors. In the spandrels between these
arches are decorative features in an inverted triangular pattern. Above this and
serving as the base for the sixth and top floor is an ornate cornice composed of six
levels projecting farther outward with each level, whose features include a wide band
of patterned stonework and a row of dentils.

The sixth floor is composed of five groupings or sets of three smaller windows each
topped Wwith'an arch' composed of ‘radiating bricks,.  'Each set is divided by a wide
brick pillar which uses a row of squares with pyramid-shaped motifs as decorative
features. Above this is a heavy ornate entablature which includes a freize decorated
with alternating paterae and fleurs~de-lis. The large projecting cornice includes
both modillions and dentils. The roof line is punctuated by simple antefixae.
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All these patterns are repeated on the south side which is only one bay in width.
Although the elevation is narrower, the details are identical.

The six-story engaged tower with the cupola and dome directly above is in the
southwest corner facing three different streets and is the focal point of the
building. Although the designs are slightly different from the facade, the hori-
zontal lines are similar and present unbroker patterns. The entrance treatment
follows the contours of the tower. Pilasters flanking this doorway lead vertically
into consoles supporting a balcony. The second story has radiating stone voussoirs
above the windows. The three-sotry unit (floors three, four, and five) is enhanced
bya decorative festoon pattern below windows on two floors, and on the fourth floor
the festoons ornament the intermediate freize. A bull's eye window, without glazing
bars and with four keystones, appears on the fifth story. The top story of this bay
is decorated similarly to the other walls.

The cupola is circular, constructed of wood, painted white and surmounts the

engaged tower., It has a railing of turned balusters with eight Ionic columns. Above
these columns the frieze features alternating triglyphs and patterae-decorated metopes
between the sixteen metopes. Each of the triglyphs is topped with a scroll-like
console, The ridge trim has a lion's head above each alternating console. In the
rear are stairs leading into the cupola. The most distinctive feature is the dome

of the cupola which has been painted gold and has a huge finial ornament which serves
as a flagpole.

There is a three-story addition on the east side facing Eighth Street. Also of buff
brick, it was built in 1917. There is a small plain entrance way on the east side.
The main portion of this annex is largely unadorned with the only outstanding
features being stone window arches of alternating radiating voussoirs., The cornice
is decorative and similar to the one on the main building, using the same treatment
of dentils, modillions, and antefixae., The only difference in the cornice treat-
ment of the main building and the annex is that the annex has its cornice terminated
at each end with a variation of a bull's eye motif.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Built in 1888-1892, the Dome Building is one of the city's outstanding landmarks. Not
only was the building's architecture significant with its rich and varied exterior
detailing and its uniquely distincitve dome, but it also had the visual advantages of
being built on a small hill and being the tallest building in the city-~-six stories plus
the cupola topped by a dome. It was for many years the most imposing building in Chat-
tanooga, and although no longer the tallest building, it remains as aone of the city's
architectural landmarks. The New York architectural firm of Delomos and Cordes designed
the building.

An elegant example of Italian Renaissance architecture, it is located downtown in a
section with many of Chattanooga's older office buildings, many of architectural and
historical significance. The Dome Building itself was originally used as the publishing
plant for The Chattanooga Times, a newspaper owned by Adolph S. Ochs. It served The
Times until 1942 when the newspaper moved to new quarters.

Adolph Ochs came to Chattanooga in 1877 at the age of 19. As the oldest of six

children, Ochs had started to work at age nine to supplement the family income. For
several years he had done varlous jobs in newspaper offices. In 1877 Ochs and two

friends started their own nébpaper, the Chattanooga Dispatch.. Ochs was business solicitor.
In an age when newspapers flourished and died quickly, the- Dispatch closed after a few
months. Ochs remained in Chattanooga and with arother printer published a city directory
in order to pay debts acquired from the short-lived Dispatch.

In 1878 the nine-year-old Chattanooga Times was on the verge of closing after numerous
owners had failed in their attempts to develop a successful newspaper. Ochs borrowed

money to buy half the paper, with an option to buy the remaining half at a later date.
The Times succeeded as a newspaper, and Ochs bought the second half four years later.

During this period of prosperity Ochs had the "Times Building" constructed.

As did many other people, Ochs invested heavily in the 1880's land craze. Deeply in

debt from woﬁbEless land investments, Ochs chose to make a new investment. In 1896 he
bought The New York Times, a failing newspaper with a small circulation, large debt, and
stiff competition in a field of fifteen New York newspapers. To a group of businessmen
Ochs proposed a refinancing giving him an interest in the paper with an option to acquire
a majority interest when the paper.cleared a profit, which it did.in less than .four years.,
At that time he bought a majority of the shares or controlling interest.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The nomlnated property is roughly 100'x 140' in size. It ’is located on the northeast
corner of East Eighth ‘Street and Georgia Avenue in the downtown Chattanooga area.
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Although a resident of New York, Ochs maintained close ties with Chattanooga and

The Chattanooga Times, which he continued to Wéhi. Always claiming Chattanooga as his
home, Ochs was involved in many local activities. In 1904 he paigéhalf the cost of
a temple for a Jewish congregation in Chattanooga. When the congrégation outgrew
the facility, Ochs offered in 1924 to pay the entire cost of a new temple, rabbi's
residence, and community house which was named for a dedicated to his parents.

Ochs was instrumental in acquiring additional acreage for the Chickamauga-Chattanooga
National Military Park. Ochs had been chairman of both the Chamber of Commerce
Dedication Committee and the Citizens Committee, and served as Chattanooga's leader
in organizing the dedication of the park in 1895,

Largely through Ochs' efforts Cravens Terrace and Lookout Point were transferred to
the national government. His efforts in the 1920s and early 1930s led to the donation
of an additional 2,700 acres in 1935 after his death. Ochs also advanced $150,000

to Hamilton County to rebuild the St. Elmo Turnpike which had been closed. This was
in cooperation with other efforts being made in regard to the Lookout Mountain Scenic
Highway to bring tourists to Chattanooga. Repairs were begun on the turnpike in 1930,
When completed the following year, it was named in honor of Adolph S. Ochs and his
brother, Milton Ochs. Ochs stipulated that the $150,000 loan be repaid, not to him,
but to the Chattanooga Lookout Mountain Park Association.

Adolph S. Ochs was honored by a 1l3-cent commemorative stamp issued September 18, 1976,
in New York City, honoring the observance of the 125th anniversary of ‘The New York
Times. The stamp featured a drawing of Ochs with the words "Adolph S. Ochs Publisher.

The Times Building was sold in the early 1940s and the new owners began calling it th
Dome Building. After changing ownership numerous times, the building was lazxgely
vacant by 1969, Several business and occupants had "modernized" the lower story's
exterior by adding signs and advertisements. Also, at some point, the first-story
stone facade had been covered with black material.

In 1970, North American Royalties purchased the building. Economic studies had
indicated that the need for another downtown professional office building did not
justify the expenses of rehabilitation. Although repairs were made to stabilize the
building, plans were to restore only the building's exterior and seal the interior
against further decay. These were altered in 1977, The interior was stripped of
everything except floors and bearing columns and renovation began on the building to
be used for offices, two floors by North American Royalties, and the others, by tenant

Careful interior renovation and restoration of the exterior to its approximate origina.
appearance have provided Chattanooga with a lasting architectural landmark and a
constant reminder of Adolph S. Ochs' influence on the newspaper industry and the city.
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